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We heard this case on July 29, 1998, at Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Randall J. Weddle represents Employer, Tester Drilling Services, Inc., and its insurer, Alaska National Insurance Company (Tester).  Attorney Deirdre Ford represents Employer, Denali Drilling Inc. and its insurer, Industrial Indemnity Company (Denali).  Attorney Chancy Croft represents Employee.  We closed the record at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUE

Whether Tester or Denali is liable under the Last Injurious Exposure Rule.


SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS

Employee is a 38 year old man with carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS) of the left wrist.  There is no dispute his injury arose out of his employment as a driller's helper.


In Grady v. Harding Lawson Associates, et. al., AWCB Decision No. 98-0102 (April 23, 1998), incorporated herein by reference, the Board ordered Employee's last employer, Tester, to pay interim compensation, under AS 23.30.155(d), during the pendency of his disability and the dispute between successive employers over liability for his claim.,


On July 16, 1998, the Board approved a partial compromise and release agreement between all parties, the terms of which are incorporated herein by reference.  In sum, under the partial settlement agreement, Employee waived all claims for his right wrist and settled his claims for left CTS (excepting only certain, possible future benefits).  All parties agreed to waive any claims they may have had against Employee's earlier employers, Harding Lawson Associates (HLA) and Ambler Exploration. HLA and Ambler were dismissed from the case.  The Employee's last two employers, Denali and Tester, agreed the only issue remaining to be decided is whether Tester or Denali was the legal cause of Employee's left CTS and liable for the benefits he claimed.


SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE
WORK HISTORY AND INJURY

Employee worked intermittently as a driller's helper for HLA from 1992 into early 1996.  As a driller's helper, Employee was responsible for repeatedly assembling and disassembling heavy drilling augers.  While working for HLA in 1995, Employee first experienced trouble with his hands cramping and falling asleep after a hard day's work.  [Grady Depo. 63.]  He did not seek medical treatment.  After a few days of lighter work and self treatment with ice packs and aspirin, his hand and wrist symptoms seemed to clear up. [Grady Depo. 65.]


Following his layoff from HLA in 1996, Employee worked for three weeks as a driller's helper for Ambler Exploration.  He did not report experiencing wrist or hand distress while working for Ambler at this time.


On September 5, 1996, Employee began working for Denali as a driller's helper in Adak, Alaska.  He testified his job at Denali was harder and more physically demanding than the work for HLA.   He was required to work continuously, seven days a week, without breaks, for weeks.  [Grady Depo. 75.]   His workdays at Denali were regularly longer than 12 hours, and sometimes exceeded 14 hours. [R. Grady, Contemporaneous Diary 9/5/96 to 10/15/96.]
  Further, the auger bits he handled were bigger and heavier at Denali than at HLA.  During a typical work day, he would assemble and disassemble the augur drill approximately 100 times.  [Grady Depo. 74]  In addition to the usual duties of a driller's helper, Denali required him to manually mix concrete, putting additional stress on his hands and wrists.


On September 15, 1996, while working for Denali, Employee noted tingling in his left hand. [Grady Depo. Ex. 8]  At the end of the second week in Adak, he testified, his wrists were swollen and getting progressively worse.  By September 20, both hands were aching, sore, and falling asleep. [Id.]  Employee began to self treat with ice packs and aspirin to reduce pain and swelling. [Id.]  On September 28, he reported tingling, cramping, and constant pain in his hands.  On October 2, 1996, both hands were so stiff he could not make a fist and his sleep was disrupted by the pain in his left wrist.  [Id.]


On October 5, 1996, Employee sought medical treatment from R. B. Hays, M.D., at the Air Force Clinic in Adak.  He told Dr. Hays he suffered two weeks of progressively worsening left wrist pain and associated swelling.  Dr. Hays reported obvious swelling of the dorsal aspect of the left wrist with tendon tenderness and reduced range of motion.  He diagnosed tendinitis and prescribed a wrist splint, with icing and rest after work.  Dr. Hays recommended light duty work. [Grady Depo. 80].


Employee advised his foreman of his wrist and hand problems, and of Dr. Hays' recommendation of light duty work.  The foreman told him there was no light duty work in Adak, and Denali had decided it was cheaper to keep Employee on the job as the driller's helper, than to fly out a replacement.  [Grady Depo. 75, 80.]  Employee continued working without resting his hands and wrists.


By October 15, 1996, Employee's pain had worsened to the point where he believed his left wrist was broken.  [Grady Depo. Ex. 8]  Employee testified he would rate the pain in his left wrist as an 8 or a 9, on a ten point scale.
  He was re-examined by Dr. Hays, who noted the patient must rest his wrist to achieve resolution of pain.  Employee testified that the x-ray machine in Adak was broken, so on October 15, 1996, he returned to Anchorage for x-rays and treatment of his wrist.


X-rays taken at the Alaska Native Medical Center, on October 16, 1997, showed Employee's left wrist was not broken.  Employee was given a spika splint for his left wrist, a sling for his left arm, and prescribed two weeks of rest.   He was excused from returning to work requiring the use of his left hand.  Employee sought light duty work from Denali, to no avail.   Employee testified that when he left Denali, he did not think he could continue working in the drilling industry, because of the pain and problems with his hands and wrists.  Employee stated his left wrist never recovered after his employment with Denali.  [Grady Depo. 122.]


By October 29, 1996, although his left wrist was still somewhat swollen and giving him trouble, his pain had subsided and he accepted work driving a truck from Anchorage to Haines, Alaska, for Ambler Exploration.  Employee stayed on with Ambler for an additional two weeks, as a driller's helper.  The work with Ambler involved different drilling equipment and the pace of work was slower than his work for Denali. [Grady Depo. 87 - 88.]  He rated his wrist pain while working for Ambler as a 3 to 4, on a ten point scale.  [Grady Depo. 172.]  When his job at Ambler ended on November 17, 1997, his wrist pain subsided to a to a 2 or 3, on a ten point scale.  [Recorded Statement of Robert Grady by TLH, September 11, 1997, 6.]


Employee was again examined at Alaska Native Health Center, on December 19, 1996.  Employee stated he "begged" Dr. Tierney to perform wrist surgery.  [Grady Depo. 88.]  He state, "I was ready for surgery."  [Grady Depo. 171.]  Employee testified that he wanted wrist surgery "because he was having this problem prior to working with Ambler." [Grady Depo. 178.]  Employee stated, "[t]he doctor talked me out of the surgery."  [Grady Depo. 88.]


At hearing, Employee was asked if he had been offered wrist surgery in December 1998, would he have undergone the procedure?  Employee answered: "Right then and there, I wouldn't have hesitated.  I wanted the pain to stop, so I could get back to work.  I wanted the pain out of my life."


To give his wrists and hands a chance to get better, in January 1997, Employee took a light duty job delivering pizza for Godfather's Pizza.  [Grady Depo. 89.]  Employee testified he avoided use of his left hand and it gave him no problems. [Grady Depo. 97]  In June 1998, Employee took a job installing cable with Schneck Communications.  The job at Schneck lasted two days and on June 3, 1997, Employee went to work for Tester.


Employee testified he had previously decided never to return to work as a driller's helper.  But, after resting his hands for over six months doing light duty work, he felt his hands were better and he decided to "take a chance" on one last driller's job, at Tester, to gather a "nest egg" for further schooling.  [Grady Depo. 98.]


At Tester, Employee typically worked 8 to 10 hour days.  [Grady Depo. 159.]  Employee estimated he spent about 40 percent of his time at Tester working with an auger drill.  [Grady Depo. 160.]  Although his job and Tester's auger drill were similar to his work at Denali, Employee testified that he worked fewer hours per day, and was given days off and time to rest.  Another 40 percent of his employment at Tester involved working with a casing drill.  Employee testified set-ups for the casing drill required more arm and shoulder motions, rather than the repetitive wrist motions required by his work with an auger drill.  [Grady Depo. 159 - 60.]  The remaining 20 percent of his duties at Tester entailed lighter work, decontaminating the drilling equipment and drill site.  [Grady Depo. 160 - 61.]


By July 16, 1997, Employee's fingers were again "falling asleep from working on drill rigs." [R. Grady, Contemporaneous Diary 7/16/97, P. 6.]  On July 19, 1997, his wrists were aching and he was treating them with aspirin and ice packs.  [Grady Depo. 159; R. Grady, Contemporaneous Diary 7/19/97, P. 9.]  On July 21, 1997, although he only worked for one hour, he notes in his diary his hands were "falling asleep."  [R. Grady, Contemporaneous Diary 7/21/97, P.11.]  On July 22, Employee awakened at 1:47 a.m. with sore and aching hands and tingling finger tips, he treated with ice packs and aspirin for pain.  [R. Grady, Contemporaneous Diary 7/22/97, P. 12.]


On July 23, 1997, while working for Tester, a 300 pound steel rod dropped from the drill rig where Employee was working, trapping his left hand between the steel rod and a pipe wrench.  Employee suffered a laceration and compound fracture proximal to the distal interphalangeal joint of the middle phalanx of his left ring finger.  Robert W. Lipke, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon specializing in hand surgery, performed an open reduction, internal fixation of the displaced fracture.  Dr Lipke sutured Employee's tendon and skin lacerations, and applied a protective volar splint.  Tester accepted Workers' Compensation liability for Employee's July 23, 1997 finger injury.  Employee's ring finger injury is relevant to this case only in so far as the finger injury itself, or attendant wrist swelling, if any, may have caused, aggravated, combined with, or accelerated Employee's left CTS.


While working for Tester, before his July 23, 1997 finger injury, Employee described his wrist and hand pain as 2 or 3, on a ten point scale. [Recorded Statement of Robert Grady by TLH, September 11, 1997, 17.]  Employee testified his wrist and hand complaints while working at Tester, were the same symptoms he suffered while working at Denali, only less severe. [Grady Depo. 123.]  


Employee testified his left wrist had become swollen a few days prior his finger injury.  When asked why his daily journal entries for these days do not reflect wrist swelling, Employee stated, he was "tired of writing about swelling."  Employee testified that following his ring finger injury, he observed no increase or worsening of the previous swelling of his left wrist.


The development of Employee's hand and wrist symptoms were explored at some length during his deposition.  Employee testified he believed his hand and wrist problems were caused by his work for Denali at Adak, because that is where his "wrists went out."  [Grady Depo. 120.]  While working for Denali, his wrist pain first became so bad that he lost time from work and sought medical treatment for what he thought was a broken wrist. [Grady Depo. 121.]  Employee testified he has never experienced wrist pain, particularly in his left wrist, that was even close to what he experienced at Adak. [Id.]


Employee testified his left wrist never fully recovered from effects of working for Denali at Adak. [Grady Depo. 122.]  In his opinion the symptoms he suffered while working for later employers (pain, swelling, tingling, etc.), were the result of aggravating the injury he received at Denali. [Grady Depo. 123.]  He stated the basic nature of the problem remained the same.  [Id.]  The symptoms he suffered after working for Denali were not of a different type. He testified, "[i]t's the same old symptoms coming back." [Id.]

DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT

During the course of treating Employee's ring finger fracture, Dr. Lipke became aware of Employee's wrist problems.  On August 18, 1997, Dr. Lipke reported "[p]atient has a new problem with evidence of carpal tunnel syndrome.  He has numbness and tingling which is interfering with function associated with use of the hand."  This statement by Dr. Lipke is the first medical diagnoses of Employee's hand and wrist problems as CTS.  On August 22, 1997, Dr. Lipke reported, in somewhat more detail:


Patient has a new problem.  He is complaining of numbness and tingling of the hands bilaterally.  It has been bothering him intermittently over a period of time.  He was working for Denali Drilling at the time and over a year ago developed enough pain and swelling in his hand that he was sent back to Anchorage for splints.  Subsequently he was not rehired by Denali Drilling this year and went to work for a different company.  The symptoms persisted.  He still had continuing trouble with his hands with numbness and tingling and pain, but he continued to work and did not complain.


Subsequently he sustained a crush injury to his left ring finger which led him to be treated in our office.  During this treatment it became clear that the patient has had continued problems with numbness and tingling in his hands bilaterally. He has significant aggravation of a pre-existing injury which was present at the time the patient worked for Denali Drilling.  We need to obtain electromyograms and nerve conduction studies to document the level of nerve involvement.

On September 19, 1997 Dr. Lipke examined Employee and reported:


Patient is cleared to return to regular duty.  He has been cleared by Laurie Hartley from therapy.  Range of motion is excellent, and he seems to have recovered from the surgical procedure.  The only problem is that he has mild carpal tunnel syndrome which was initiated because of some swelling at the wrist.


Pursuant to a referral from Dr. Lipke, on September 19, 1997, Larry A. Levine, M.D., performed electrodiagnostic testing and diagnosed Employee as suffering moderate carpal tunnel syndrome on the left. On September 22, 1997, Dr. Lipke assigned Employee a 2 percent whole person impairment rating for his finger injury and added,


Further, the patient has an additional problem.  He has developed numbness and tingling of the hand associated with use.  He had swelling of the hand following the fracture and the injury, and he developed some evidence of carpal tunnel syndrome.  This has been documented with nerve conduction studies performed by Dr. Levine . . . .  This is an ongoing active medical problem of carpal tunnel syndrome, not requiring surgical treatment at this time.  However, continuing care needs to be provided.  Surgery may be indicated at a later date.  The carpal tunnel syndrome interferes with his function at the job.


On January 28, 1998, Dr. Lipke performed carpal tunnel release surgery on Employee's left wrist.  Dr. Lipke, in his March 3, 1998 operative pathological findings, states, "patient has moderately severe carpal tunnel with constriction of the transverse volar retinacular ligament."  Following CTS release surgery, on March 4, 1998, Dr. Lipke wrote Tester's insurer, Alaska National Insurance, regarding the role he believed Employee's July 23, 1997 finger injury played in his CTS.


It is my opinion that within a reasonable medical probability Mr. Grady's left carpal tunnel syndrome was caused by or so aggravated by his job related injury of 7--23-97 as to require medical treatment sooner than otherwise would have been required.  The crush injury to Mr. Grady's left hand caused extensive swelling of his left hand and wrist causing pressure to the median nerve.  Swelling and increased pressure on the median nerve is a well known cause of carpal tunnel syndrome.


At his deposition, Dr. Lipke testified that he had no opinion concerning the cause of Employee's CTS, or whether it preexisted his employment at Denali. [Lipke Depo. 35 and 33.]  However, he reaffirmed his opinion that Employee's finger fracture aggravated Employees preexisting CTS, and accelerated the need for surgery.  [Lipke Depo. 81.]


Dr. Lipke testified his opinions concerning Employee's CTS were based exclusively on information contained in his own records.  [Lipke Depo. 38.]  He had not reviewed any of Employee's other medical records.  [Lipke Depo. 10]  Apart from the information  contained in his own records, Dr. Lipke had no knowledge concerning the nature of Employee's work, before, during, or after his employment at Denali, or Employee's hand and wrist symptoms.  [Lipke Depo. 33-34.]  Specifically, Dr. Lipke had no knowledge Employee believed his "wrists went out" while working for Denali, or that Employee's pain was so bad that he thought he had broken his wrist, or that both hands hurt on that job and that both fingers fell asleep. [Lipke 34-35]  


Nonetheless, when asked to assume the foregoing facts to be true, Dr. Lipke stated they would have an effect on his opinion, "because that's obviously significant history concerning a work injury and what the patient feels about his problem." [Lipke Depo. 37.]  "If these are true statements, then I would consider that as significant history, yes."  Id.

In November 1997, at the request of Tester's Insurer, Employee prepared and signed a hand written statement expressing his belief there was no relationship between his finger fracture and his CTS.  This statement provides, in pertinent part, as follows:


To whom it may concern I don't feel that the compound fracture has any thing to do with my carpell tunnel [sic].  I was having trouble with it before I fractured my left ring finger on 7/23/97 and I've documented it in my journals.  These are two separate injury [sic]. . . . 

Employee's explained his opinion at his deposition:


Q. After that incident [the July 23, 1997 left ring finger fracture], from your perspective did the type of problems you were having with your wrist change in any way?


. . . 


A. I don't believe there was any change.  I reaggravated the injury going back to work doing the drilling.  I'll put it that way.


Q. Okay, the injury meaning your wrist?


A. My wrist.

[Grady Depo. 145.] 


Q. In your opinion with your observations were the symptoms in your hand,. . . a result of what happened when you were working with Denali . . . ?


A. The wrist problems are what I think has happened with Denali and the hand problems.  It's when I was first noticing, you know, that my hand's falling asleep a lot and hurting a lot, and my wrist hurting a lot, and then -- that's when I feel it generally started.

[Grady Depo. 147.]


Q. Did your wrist bother you more after you broke your finger?


A. No. No it's -- I'm still having trouble with it.  I believe I first started having the wrist problems out at Adak.

[Grady Depo. 102]


Eric Carlsen, M.D., a physiatrist certified in electrodiagnostic medicine, examined Employee and Employee's medical records on behalf of Denali.  On April 13, 1998 Dr. Carlsen issued a report in which he concluded, in part:


1.  It is my opinion that Mr. Grady's employment at Denali Drilling for five weeks in 1996 is not a substantial factor in the necessity for surgery for carpal tunnel syndrome in 1998.  The aggravation of his wrist pain occurring in 1996, documented in the medical reports, was similar to that seen 1995 and in 1992 and, I believe, represented a temporary aggravation of a preexisting condition with regard to his wrist pain.  I do not believe his work during that time was a substantial factor in bringing about his carpal tunnel syndrome or the need for carpal tunnel release.


2.  With regard to whether Mr. Grady's employment at Tester Drilling is a factor in the need for carpal tunnel surgery, I would tend to agree with Dr. Lipke that the swelling associated with the trauma occurring in 1997 could have been a substantial aggravating factor that caused the need for carpal tunnel release.


Dr. Carlsen stated that CTS "typically develops over time, in the order of weeks or months, I would say." [Carlsen Depo. 9.]  Unlike Dr. Lipke, Dr. Carlsen believed Employee's earlier left hand injuries and complaints were significant.
  Dr. Carlsen expressed suspicion that if a nerve conduction test had been performed in the early 90's, there would have been evidence of slowing (indicating CTS), but no such tests were performed.   [Carlsen Depo. 11.]  Dr. Carlsen opined that any finger trauma, sufficient to cause swelling of the "proximal wrist crease," would aggravate CTS.  [Carlsen Depo. 13-14.]  In Dr. Carlsen's opinion, the trauma involved in the ring finger injury aggravated or accelerated Employee's pre-existing CTS.  [Carlsen Depo. 14-15.]  Dr. Carlsen testified the sole basis for his opinion that Tester worsened Employee's CTS, was his belief that the ring finger fracture caused wrist swelling. [Carlsen Depo. 29-30.]


Concerning the factual basis for his medical opinions, Dr. Carlsen stated that history is important for treatment and diagnosis of medical problems, and he recorded all significant medical history he received from Employee in his report.  [Carlsen Depo. 17-18.]   Dr. Carlsen allowed that if the history he received was not complete or accurate, his opinions might be different. [Carlsen Depo. 18.]


During his deposition, Dr. Carlsen stated he rendered his opinions concerning Employee's CTS, without knowing the specifics of Employee's work for Denali, the length of his workday at Denali relative to work for other employers, whether the work for Denali was harder than his work for other employers, and whether Employee's wrist and hand symptoms were significantly worse while working for Denali. [Carlsen Depo. 22-23.]


Q. How would you determine if there was a permanent worsening of a carpal tunnel syndrome as a result of work, or do you believe that work can cause a permanent worsening of?


A. I do believe work can cause a permanent worsening.


Q. How would you know if it did?


A. Typically it's when the patient says "I can't do it anymore, I can't go back to work, I can't -- I'm not getting better, I'm not cooling down at all, my symptoms are the same nine month -- as why were nine months ago when I quit my job, I want this cut."


Dr. Carlsen testified he had never seen swelling of the wrist from a fractured ring finger, but he could imagine it.  [Carlsen Depo. 29.]  Other than Dr. Lipke's comment about wrist swelling as a result of the finger injury, Dr. Carlsen had no evidence that such swelling existed.  [Carlsen Depo. 28]  Dr. Carlsen stated the sole basis for his opinion that Employee's work at Tester was a cause of Employee's CTS, was the theory that the finger fracture caused wrist swelling. [Carlsen Depo. 30]


Q. . . .[I]f the patient said that he felt he needed surgery after he worked at Denali but before he went to work at Tester, wouldn't that have some impact on your opinions?


. . .


A. Yeah, it would've.


Q. And what different (sic) would it make in your opinion?


A. If it was bad enough where he felt he couldn't work and was unable to work, and he had clear documentation of carpal tunnel syndrome, and got surgery, I think it would make a--it'd make a difference.

[Carlsen Depo. 34]


Q. Assuming the patient testifies that he didn't have swelling in the wrist as a result of the fracture to his finger would that make a difference in your opinion?


. . . 


A. Yeah.

[Carlsen Depo. 35]


Douglas Bald, M.D., an orthopedic surgeon, testified on behalf of Tester.  Dr. Bald examined Employee, reviewed all his available medical records, deposition, recorded statements, and his daily journals.  [Bald Depo. 5.]  Dr. Bald testified he spent approximately one hour and thirty minutes taking the history of Employee's left wrist injury. [Bald Depo. 7-8.]


Dr. Bald testified Employee's left CTS symptoms began in 1995 while he was working at HLA.  [Bald Report, June 26, 1998, 9; Bald Depo. 18.]  Although Employee had CTS when he left HLA, it was not severe; he did not need medical treatment; and, "certainly did not need surgical treatment for this condition back then".  [Bald Depo. 18 and 8.]


Dr. Bald stated Employee described his work at Denali as being of the same general nature as the previous driller's helper work, but the work at Denali was more stressful, entailing considerably longer hours and a faster pace of work than he had previously experienced. [Bald Depo. 9.]  Employee related to Dr. Bald his symptoms developed almost immediately at Denali and became progressively worse, until he had difficulty using his hand at all and convinced himself that his hand or wrist was broken. [Bald Depo. 10.]


In light of the severity of Employee's symptoms when he left Denali, and his subsequent history of recurrent episodes and complaints, it was "very clear" to Dr. Bald that surgery was a strong option when he left Denali.  Employees "problem was not going to resolve itself and was not going to get better in terms of the condition itself without surgical treatment." [Bald Depo. 14.]  "I think at that point the die was cast.  He had a problem.  It was fixable, but it was not curable by means other than surgical at that point in time."  Id.  Dr. Bald testified, ". . . my opinion is that his employment at Denali Drilling had permanently worsened his condition to the point that he was now in need of surgical treatment."  Id.

In Dr. Bald's opinion, the long hours of physically demanding, repetitive, hand intensive work at Denali permanently worsened Employee's CTS. [Bald Depo. 10 and 19.]  Based on Employee's medical history, symptom records, work history, and deposition, Dr. Bald testified, to a reasonable medical certainty, when Employee left Denali, he needed surgery, needed to change occupations, and had suffered permanent impairment.  [Bald Depo. 10-11]  Further, Dr. Bald testified, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, the working conditions at Denali were a substantial factor in bringing about the need for surgery, temporary disability following surgery, additional medical treatment following surgery, permanent impairment, vocational rehabilitation, and any additional treatment Employee may require in the future for left CTS. [Bald Depo. 16-17.]


Dr. Bald testified, in his opinion, the working conditions at Tester were not a substantial factor in bringing about Employee's need for surgical treatment, permanent impairment, post surgical treatment or vocational rehabilitation. [Bald Depo. 18.]  When asked for the basis for this opinion, Dr. Bald stated:


. . . This type of condition is the kind of condition that you would expect symptomatically to wax and wane to a significant degree based on the level of activity.  When the patient does nothing and protects the hand and wrist and avoids repetitive use, the symptoms will improve, but the underlying condition is still there.


This condition is typically a progressive one.  It's like, in a sense, a point of no return.  You cross a certain point and at that time, then, the die is cast, and the condition will continue to get progressively worse, particularly in a situation where he is relatively young and vigorous in nature.


Most patients at his age can't avoid using their hands. So in that circumstance is going to get worse.  The longer it goes, it's going to create the potential, at least, for permanent impairment, disability, permanent damage to the nerve.


The fact that he had recurrent symptoms when he went to work for Tester does not at all surprise anybody.  That would be the expected response to his return to heavier use of his hands.

[Bald Depo. 19-20]


Q. You said "then the die is cast."  Was the die cast by the time he left Denali Drilling?


A. Yes


Q. And it wasn't cast before he got to Denali Drilling?


A. No.


Q. Okay.  In your opinion did the work at Tester permanently worsen the condition in any way?


A. No.  At that point his condition was sufficiently severe that his treatment options were very clear and, you know, time itself will make this condition worse, but it's my opinion that the employment at Tester individually and separately from just the passage of time did not worsen his condition.

[Bald Depo. 20.]


Dr. Bald expressed a similar opinions in his January 26, 1998 report, which provides in pertinent part as follows:


It is my opinion that this preexisting condition [CTS] was aggravated by his employment at Denali Drilling to the point that at that point in time, in spite of the fact that he was employed there a very short time, his symptoms were much worse than they had ever been at any point in the past or any subsequent point.


. . .


It is my opinion that the employment at Tester Drilling only served to aggravate the already pre-existing condition to the point that surgical treatment was once again considered.  It is my opinion however, that the employment with Tester did not serve to permanently worsen or aggravate this pre-existing condition in any way.

[Bald Report, June 26, 1998, P.]


Dr. Bald testified Employee told him he had left hand swelling before his ring finger injury on July 23, 1997, and Employee did not tell him that the finger injury caused his hand or wrist to swell. [Bald Depo. 22 and 21.]


Q. Do you have any reason to believe that a fracture such as that might have caused a swelling in the hand or the wrist.


A. An injury to the hand wherein you get a fractured finger certainly can produce swelling in the hand and the wrist depending on how the fracture occurs.  The type of injury that Mr. Grady had, where he essentially got his finger pinched between two pieces of metal, is not the kind of injury where you would expect some swelling in the wrist or hand to develop as a result of the injury.  In fact, it would be very unusual.

[Id.]

Dr. Bald went on to state he had never seen hand or wrist swelling  result from a finger injury, similar to that suffered by Employee.  [Id.]  He concluded by saying "[i]n the absence of any injury to his hand at all [versus an injury confined to the ring finger], I'd say it's extremely unlikely that anybody could develop sufficient swelling in the hand or the wrist to the point that it would cause carpal tunnel syndrome.  I have never seen it." [Bald Depo. 23-24]


Q. But could it aggravate a preexisting carpal tunnel syndrome?


A. No, I don't think so, not to the point to make it worse.

[Bald Depo. 24.]


Dr. Bald agreed with Dr. Carlsen, if Employee had seen Dr. Lipke after working at Denali, and before going to work for Tester, Dr. Lipke would likely have recommended surgery at that time.  [Bald Depo. 32.]

ARGUMENTS

Denali asserts, under the Last Injurious Exposure Rule, we must find Tester, as the last employer, liable for Employee's CTS.  It relies on Dr. Lipke's opinion that the ring finger fracture caused swelling of Employee's wrist sufficient to aggravate his preexisting CTS and hasten the need for carpal tunnel release surgery.  Denali also relies on Dr. Carlsen's concurrence in Dr. Lipke's conclusions.  As evidence for its position that any CTS Employee suffered while working at Denali was temporary, Denali points to Employee's lack of symptoms during the months he delivered pizzas, before going to work at Tester in 1997.


Tester asserts neither the working conditions at Tester, nor Employee's finger fracture, were a legal cause of Employee's CTS disability, need for surgery, or need for vocational rehabilitation. Therefore, Denali, not Tester, is liable for these benefits.  Tester relies on Dr. Bald's opinions that the working conditions at Denali permanently worsened Employee's CTS, and Employee needed CTS surgery before his employment at Tester.  Tester argues Dr. Lipke reached his opinion without the benefit of significant historical information concerning Employee's working conditions and CTS symptoms while at Denali.  Further, Tester asserts Dr. Lipke's opinion, is based on the erroneous assumption the finger injury caused increased hand or wrist swelling.  Tester argues that without credible proof of such swelling, there is no factual basis for Dr. Lipke's conclusion that the finger injury was a substantial factor hastening Employee's need for carpal tunnel release surgery.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

In Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590 (Alaska 1979) the court adopted the Last Injurious Exposure Rule, which provides when an employee suffers successive injuries while working for different employers, both of which contribute to the employee's disability, full liability is imposed on the later employer.  Saling, 604 P.2d at 595.  It is not necessary that employment with the last employer be the legal cause of disability, only a legal cause of the disability.  Saling, 604 P.2d 598 (emphasis added).

CAUSATION UNDER THE LAST INJURIOUS EXPOSURE RULE

"Two determinations must be made under the last injurious exposure rule in order to impose liability on the second employer: (1) whether employment with the subsequent employer 'aggravated, accelerated, or combined with' a pre-existing condition; and if so, (2) whether the aggravation, acceleration, or combination was a "legal cause of the disability, i.e., 'a substantial factor in bring about the harm.'"  Olsen Logging Co. v. Lawson, 856 P.2d 1155, 1159 (Alaska 1993)


To be a legal cause, the second injury must be a "substantial factor" in bringing about the disability, a test which is satisfied "only by a showing of both cause-in-fact and proximate cause:  that the injury would not have happened 'but for' an act, omission, or force, and that reasonable persons would regard this act, omission or force as a cause and attach responsibility to it."  Alaska Pulp Corp. v. Trading Union, Inc., 896 P.2d 235, 236 (Alaska 1995)(quoting Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 532 (Alaska 1987)). The court has futher explained the application of the "but for" test where the claimant has a degenerative injury as follows:


Where, as here, a claimant has a degenerative injury, the claimant can be expected to experience some degree of disability regardless of any subsequent trauma. It can never be said that "but for" the subsequent trauma the claimant would not be disabled . . ..  Rather, the claimant need only prove that "but for" the subsequent trauma the claimant would not have suffered disability at this time, or in this way, or to this degree.

Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co., 932 P.2d 222, 239 (Alaska 1997)(per curiam)(quoting Rogers & Babler 747 P.2d at 533).  Legal cause is a question of fact to be determined by the Board.  Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 418 (Alaska 1983).


The court has cautioned that we should not find a causal relationship does not exist, merely because a prior injury might also suffice as a concurrent cause of the employee's current disability.  Lawson 856 P.2d at 1161.  But, as the court's formulation of legal cause test makes clear, responsibility for a disability from an underlying or preexisting condition requires more than a work-related aggravation.  The work-related aggravation must be a substantial factor in the resultant disability.  See Jones v. Alaska Worker's Compensation Board, 600 P.2d 738 (Alaska 1979)(per curiam)(employer liable for temporary work-related aggravation, not for underlying heart condition or surgery); Brown v. State, 931 P.2d 421 (Alaska 1997)(employer not liable for underlying cervical spondylosis after work-related aggravation was no longer a substantial factor in disability); See also Alaska Pulp Corporation, 896 P.2d at 235(last employer liable for temporary work-related re-injury, not entire pre-existing shoulder condition, on proof that earlier surgery was unsuccessful).

APPLYING THE PRESUMPTION

The presumption of compensability applies to disputes between successive employers or insurers under the Last Injurious Exposure Rule.  Bouse, 932 P.2d at 231; Providence Washington Ins. Co. v. Bonner, 680 P.2d 96, 99 (Alaska 1984).  In applying the presumption that the last employer is liable for an employee's entire injury, we utilize the analysis applied to an employee's claim for compensation under AS 23.30.120(a). Bouse, 932 P.2d at 234. 
Applying the presumption of compensability is a three step process.
  In the first step, we must determine whether Denali produced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that Tester is liable for Employee's entire left wrist CTS claim.  To raise the presumption, Denali need only adduce "some" "minimal" relevant evidence
 establishing a "preliminary link" between the injury claimed and employment,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.
  That is, minimal evidence employment at Tester aggravated, accelerated, or combined with Employee's pre-existing CTS and the aggravation, acceleration or combination was a substantial factor in producing Employee's present disability.  If Denali's evidence establishes the preliminary link, we presume Tester is liable for Employee's entire injury and the burden of producing contrary evidence shifts to Tester.


"In claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations' medical evidence is often necessary to in order to make the connection."  Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.  "Two factors determine whether expert medical evidence is necessary in a given case:  the probative value of the available lay evidence and the complexity of the medical facts involved."  Veco Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


 Dr. Lipke, Employee's treating physician, stated the finger injury at Tester caused "extensive swelling of the left hand and wrist" causing pressure to the median nerve.  Dr. Lipke expressed the opinion "within a reasonable medical probability Mr Grady's left carpal tunnel syndrome was caused by or so aggravated his job related injury of 7-23-97 [while working at Tester] as to require medical treatment sooner than would otherwise would have been required."  We find Dr. Lipke's medical opinion is sufficient evidence to establish a preliminary link between Employee's CTS and his employment at Tester, and thus, raise the presumption that Tester is liable for Employee's entire CTS injury.


In the second step, we must determine whether Tester met its burden of producing contrary evidence.
  To rebut the presumption, Tester must produce "substantial evidence" that either, 1) provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work related factors occurring at Tester as a substantial cause of the disability; or 2) directly eliminates any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to Tester, and not the burden of proof, we examine Tester's evidence in isolation.
  We defer questions of credibility and the weight to give Tester's evidence until after we have decided whether Tester has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption.


Dr. Bald testified the working conditions at Tester were not a substantial factor in bringing about the need for Employee's CTS surgical treatment, permanent impairment, post surgical treatment, or vocational rehabilitation.  In Dr. Bald's opinion, Employee had permanent impairment and needed surgical treatment when he left Denali in 1996, and his CTS was not going to get better, without surgical treatment.  Dr. Bald testified Employee's work at Tester did not permanently worsen or aggravate Employee's CTS in any way.


Employee testified his left wrist became swollen a few days before his ring finger injury, and following accident he did not observe an increase or worsening of this preexisting swelling. He also testified his wrist did not bother him more after his finger injury.  Dr. Bald testified it would be "very unusual" for a finger to cause wrist swelling.  Dr. Bald stated he had never observed a finger fracture, similar to that suffered by Employee, cause significant hand or wrist swelling.  Finally Dr. Bald testified  Employee's ring finger injury could not aggravate preexisting CTS to the point where it would make the condition worse.


We find, based on Dr. Bald's testimony and report, and Employee's testimony concerning his symptoms and observations before and after his finger injury, and from our review of the entire record, there is substantial evidence that the Employee's work at Tester and the consequences of his ring finger fracture were not a substantial factor contributing to a permanent worsening Employee's CTS, and did not accelerate the need for CTS surgery.  Accordingly, the presumption that the Tester's employment was a substantial factor in bringing about Employee's disability was rebutted, and we move to the third step.

WEIGHING THE EVIDENCE

Having found Tester produced substantial evidence to rebut the presumption that it is liable for Employee's CTS disability, the presumption dropped out.
  In the third step, under Blouse, Denali has the burden of proving all elements of its claim against Tester. Bouse, 932 P.2d at 239, (citing Carter, 818 P.2d at 664; Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870).  Denali must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Employee's work for Tester, or the ring finger injury he suffered at Tester, caused, or aggravated, accelerated or combined with a prior condition in such a way that it may be said to be a substantial factor in bringing about Employee's CTS disability.  Lawson 856 P.2d at 1161.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the triers of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.


We find determination of the cause or causes of Employee's CTS is a complex medical issue requiring the opinion of a medical expert,
 we therefore give no weight to Employee's opinion, that his work at Denali caused his CTS.  However, we find Employee's testimony to be credible, because, having settled all his claims relating to CTS, he has no direct interest in the outcome of this case.  We also find Employee to be an accurate observer and a faithful recorder of his injury, symptoms, and treatments.  We find Employee's testimony concerning objective and subjective events is supported by his daily journals, the other documentary evidence, and all of the medical reports, except Dr. Lipke's reports of hand and wrist swelling and increased left wrist pain, following the July 23, 1997 ring finger injury.


Employee testified his work for Denali was more physically demanding and required more repetitive hand and wrist motions, than any of his other employment.  Further, during the six weeks he was employed by Denali at Adak, he was required to work continuously, 12 to 14 hours a day, without an opportunity to rest his hands.  Employee testified the pain in his left wrist became so severe while working for Denali, he believed his wrist was broken and that his wrist "went out" at Adak.  We find, based on the testimony of Drs. Carlsen, Lipke and Bald, that Employee's work at Denali was sufficiently stressful and prolonged to cause Employee's left wrist to become permanently impaired by CTS.  We further find, based on Employee's testimony concerning his work and symptoms before and after working at Denali, and based on Dr. Bald's reports and deposition testimony, that Employees left wrist was permanently impaired during his work for Denali.


We find, based on Dr. Bald's testimony and Employee's evidence, and the absence of contrary evidence from either Drs. Lipke or Carlsen, that Employee's work for Tester was not a substantial factor aggravating, accelerating or combining with Employee's preexisting chronic CTS condition to increase or accelerate Employees CTS disability, or accelerate his need for surgical treatment.  We do find, however, Employee's work for Tester caused a temporary aggravation of Employee's CTS symptoms, and resulting temporary disability. We find Employee's temporary disability attributable to his work at Tester coincided with the temporary disablity caused by his finger fracture, and  ended, at the latest, on January 28, 1998, when he underwent CTS release surgery.


Dr. Lipke testified and reported that Employee's ring finger injury caused swelling which aggravated Employee's pre-existing CTS, causing an acceleration of his need for surgical CTS treatment.  We find Dr. Carlsen's opinion to the same effect, was based Dr. Lipke's reports of wrist and hand swelling.  Dr. Carlsen testified if Employee said he did not have swelling as a result of the finger injury, it would effect his opinion.


Dr. Lipke is Employee's treating physician, and the only hand specialist to testify.  We find, however, Dr. Lipke formed his medical opinions without knowledge of many significant facts concerning to Employee's work history and concomitant development severe CTS symptoms.  Further, Dr. Lipke testified if these facts were true (as we have found them to be), they would effect his medical opinion.  Accordingly, we find we cannot give Dr. Lipke's opinions the additional weight we would typically accord a treating specialist of his stature.


The physical mechanism Dr. Lipke said accelerated Employee's need for CTS surgery was hand and wrist swelling, caused by his July 23, 1997 ring finger injury.  However, Dr. Lipke's reports during the weeks after July 23, 1997, do not record observations of swelling.  Dr. Lipke did not testify he observed hand or wrist swelling.  In response to the only question posed to him about his observations of swelling, Dr. Lipke testified he did not know whether Employee's hand was swollen on August 22, 1997, the date of his most comprehensive report on Employee's CTS injury.  In his report of September 22, 1997, Dr. Lipke stated, in the past tense, "[h]e had swelling of the hand following the fracture and the injury and he developed some evidence of carpal tunnel syndrome."  We find Dr. Lipke's comments about hand and wrist swelling are contradicted by Employee's testimony that his left wrist was swollen before his finger injury, and the swelling remained the same following his finger injury.  We give more weight to Employee's observations and testimony concerning the lack of new or additional swelling following his finger injury, than to Dr. Lipke's comment, two months after the accident, about past swelling.


Drs. Carlsen and Bald testified they had never observed a finger injury, similar to that suffered by Employee, cause wrist swelling.  Dr. Bald testified such swelling would be very unusual and, absent greater injury to the hand, it was extremely unlikely  swelling from a ring finger fracture could cause CTS, or aggravate preexisting CTS to the point of making it worse.


At his deposition, Dr. Lipke said he also relied on his belief that, within a month after the fracture, Employee was complaining of increased symptoms. [Lipke Depo. 71]  This too contradicts Employee's testimony.  Employee stated his wrist symptoms were not more severe after his finger injury.  He testified the hand and wrist symptoms he suffered after working for Denali and after his finger injury, were recurrences of the symptoms he had working for Denali, only not as severe.  We find that Employee's CTS symptoms did not increase after his finger injury.


Without credible evidence of increased hand or wrist swelling, or increased CTS symptoms following Employee's finger injury, we find we cannot rely on Dr. Lipke's opinion that swelling aggravated Employee's preexisting CTS.  For this reason, we also find we cannot rely on Dr. Lipke's opinion that the finger injury accelerated the need for CTS surgery.


Drs. Lipke, Carlsen, and Bald agreed that Employee had left CTS when he left work at Denali.  They testified that important factors for determining when CTS surgery is medically indicated include: the failure of CTS symptoms to resolve with conservative treatments, interference with one's ability to work, and a patient's informed request for surgery.  We find, based on the medical records prepared by treating physicians (other than Dr. Lipke), Employee's testimony and contemporaneous record concerning the existence, development, and persistence of his CTS symptoms, the fact he left work at Denali and sought medical treatment because of severe wrist pain, and the fact that he "begged" Dr. Tierney to perform wrist surgery in December 1996, that CTS surgery was medically indicated before Employee began work for Tester.  We further find, based on Employee's testimony concerning the degree to which he guarded and avoided use of his left hand while doing light duty work delivering pizza, that his absence of symptoms CTS symptoms during the early months of 1997, is consistent with our conclusions herein.


We find Dr. Bald rendered his medical opinions with the benefit of more relevant medical and factual information, than either Dr. Lipke, or Dr. Carlsen.  We find Dr. Bald based his opinions on an understanding of Employee's work and symptom history that is more complete and more consistent with the credible evidence in the record, than either Drs. Lipke or Carlsen.  We find we must give greater weight to Dr. Bald's unqualified opinion that Employee's work at Tester and his ring finger injury did not aggravate, accelerate, or combine with Employee's preexisting CTS to increase or accelerate Employee's CTS disability, his permanent impairment, or accelerate his need for surgical treatment.  


Based on our factual findings, we conclude that Denali is the legal cause of Employee's left CTS injury.  We further conclude Denali is responsible for the benefits Employee claimed for his left CTS, except for a period of temporary disability attributable to the temporary aggravation of his left CTS caused by his work at Tester. We find this period of temporary disability caused by Employee's work at Tester ended, at the latest, on January 28, 1998.  We further find that Tester has already paid these temporary disability benefits.

G. ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS

We find Tester is the prevailing party in this case.  Under the terms of the July 16, 1998 partial compromise and release agreement, Tester reserved its right to assert a claim for its attorney's fees against Denali, under AS 23.30.155(d).  The issue of attorney's fees and costs was not briefed or argued.  No affidavit of attorney's fees has been filed by either party.  We therefore, reserve jurisdiction over the issue of Tester's claim against Denali for attorney's fees and costs.


ORDER
1. Denali shall pay Tester $14,150 to reimburse Tester for the $14,150 paid to Employee under the July 16, 1998 partial compromise and release agreement.

3. Denali shall pay Tester $10,572.15, to reimburse Tester for the $10,572.15 paid for Employee's attorney's fees and costs, under the July 16,1998 partial compromise and release agreement. 

4. Denali shall pay $849.00 to the Second Injury fund, or in the event Tester has paid such sum to Second Injury Fund, shall reimburse Tester $849.00.

5. We reserve jurisdiction for a period of thirty days to consider a claim by Tester for recovery of its attorney's fees and costs, under AS 23.30.155(d).


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 31st day of August, 1998.



ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD



 /s/ Steven Constantino 


Steven Constantino,



Designated Chairman



 /s/ Philip E. Ulmer 


Philip E. Ulmer, Member



 /s/ John A. Abshire 


John Abshire, Member


If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue and penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.


APPEAL PROCEDURES

This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.


Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.


RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.


MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.


CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Decision and Order in the matter of ROBERT W. GRADY, employee/applicant; v. TESTER DRILLING SERVICES, INC., employer; and ALASKA NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY, insurer/DENALI DRILLING SERVICES, INC., employer; and INDUSTRIAL INDEMNITY COMPANY, insurer, defendants; Case No.9530171M, 9718563, 9629756; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this 31st day of August, 1998.



Elena A. Cogdill, Clerk

SNO

�








     �In its brief, Denali argued that Employee's claim against Denali was barred for failure to give Denali timely notice of his injury, under AS 23.30.100.  Both Employee and Tester objected to the raising of this defense, citing the terms of the partial compromise and release.  However, during the hearing, Denali expressly waived any reliance on this defense.


     �Approximately 200 pages of Employee's contemporaneous diaries were filed and served on the parties more than 20 days before the hearing.  Employee was cross examined concerning matters in his diaries.  We find, under 8 AAC 45.120(f), we may rely on this document in reaching our decision.


     �All references to Employee's numerical degree of pain are rated on a scale of 0 to 10, with 0 being no pain, and 10 being the most severe pain Employee has ever felt.


     �On September 18, 1990, Employee struck a door causing a comminuted fracture of the fifth metacarpal of his left hand. Although medical reports of the following days indicate that Employee returned for treatment of swelling and redness, it is unclear from the record whether the swelling was of the broken finger, his hand or his wrist. On May 1, 1992, Employee was seen at the emergency room for a swollen and red left wrist, from no known trauma or cause.


     �(quoting United Asphalt Paving v. Smith, 660 P.2d 445, 447 (Alaska 1983), quoting Saling, 604 P.2d at 597, 598).
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     �  Burgess Construction v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


     �  Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74.


     �  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661 (Alaska 1991).


     �  Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992) (quoting Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


     �  Miller v. Itt Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (quoting Thornton v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966)).


     �  Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 869.


     �  Norcon Inc. v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1055 (Alaska 1994); Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 869.


     �  Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870. 


     �  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


     �  Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.







